
Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  1 of 18 

SELINSGROVE BOROUGH COUNCIL MEETING 
 

MONDAY, JULY 2, 2007 - 7:00 P.M. 
 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT:  Pres. C. Handlan, V. Pres. W. Reuning, C/P D. Anderson, 
C/P J. Herb, C/P W. Hetherington, C/P M. Inch and C/P D. Mengel 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT:  None 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  Solicitor R. Cravitz; Mgr. J. Bickhart; Mayor P. Carroll; Borough Treasurer Sheri 
Badman; Recording Secretary Dawne Long; DH&L Representatives Jason Kaufman and Jeremy ?; 
Borough Employee Robert Wendt; Borough Resident Joseph Siro; SARI Representative Patrick Reilly; 
Ben Cairns for Boat Ramp Sewer Issue 
 
OTHERS ABSENT:   Police Chief T. Garlock 
 
CALL MEETING TO ORDER: 
 
Pres. Handlan called the meeting to order at 7:00 P.M.  Mgr. Bickhart called the roll. 
 
Pres. Handlan noted that the Borough has been assigned a reporter from the Daily Item.  His name is 
Damian Gessel. 
 
REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF COUNCIL MINUTES FROM MEETING OF JUNE 4, 2007: 
 
C/P Mengel stated that on Page 9, under the Borough Administration, Property and Equipment, in the 
paragraph about the recycling it states that C/P Mengel would need to talk with her committee about this 
and anticipated they would recommend to stay with Lycoming.  C/P Mengel stated that she would not 
state the committee’s recommendation.  It was her recommendation to the committee to stay with 
Lycoming. 
 
Motion by C/P Hetherington to approve the minutes as amended.  Seconded by C/P Mengel. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

VISITORS TO BE HEARD: 
 
Borough Police Chief, Thomas Garlock – Presentation of Police Report for June 2007 – Chief 
Garlock is on vacation.  Council has the written report.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the third item on the last 
page where Chief Garlock lists issues for the month includes a summary his offer of information as 
discussed at the last meeting.  No other correspondence has been received from Chief Garlock on this 
yet.  Assaults and burglaries remain higher and Mgr. Bickhart stated he just read an article in the Daily 
Item noting that this is a nationwide situation.  Mayor Carroll reported that he and Chief Garlock went to 
the preliminary hearing for the man arrested in the school incident.  The disorderly charges were 
dismissed and the serious offenses were carried.  He was arraigned and is in jail awaiting trial because 
he did not meet bail.  There was a chance that his sister would pay his bail, but Mayor Carroll did not 
think this to be likely.  The Mayor also stated that crime was down 29.4% due to school being out.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated the format of the police report is the result of an agreement between himself and 
Chief Garlock as a way to effectively present information.  He asked Council if they agreed with this and 
they did.  The comparisons of month-to-date and year-to-date statistics allow everyone to make sense of 
the data.  Pres. Handlan stated she liked the information broken out by zone, which Mgr. Bickhart stated 
was Chief Garlock’s idea.  Pres. Handlan asked if there has been any feedback on the changes that were 
made in the recording of crimes.  Mayor Carroll stated this has been working well.  The officers like the 
change and it will be reevaluated in the fall.  There have been no complaints.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that 
the police officers are appreciative of the change and it has actually led to an increase in the number of 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  2 of 18 

cases that have been cleared.  C/P Anderson asked if any residents have complained about a lack of 
response.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the responses are the same, but the reporting and recordkeeping has 
changed.  He stated he is not sure the public is even aware of the changes.  Mayor Carroll noted that the 
new cruiser is up and running.  It looks the same as the old cruisers except for the light bar, which is like 
the state police light bars, on the low line of the car rather than higher up.  If anyone on Council would like 
to see the new cruiser they can stop by and take a look.  Chief Garlock would like to get some laptop 
computers.  C/P Mengel asked if the third car is being kept and Mayor Carroll replied that it is.  Mayor 
Carroll reported that the investigation into Friday’s suicide included a combination of the Borough and 
state police.  The crime lab was there, as was District Attorney Sholley.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that 
overtime sheets showed that the Borough officers were involved.  Mayor Carroll reported that Chief 
Garlock is doing the best he can to find part-time officers but other departments in the area are losing 
retirees and they are trying to fill those positions with part-time officers.  The pool of officers with 
experience is very small and that is where Chief Garlock wants to get an officer so he does not have to 
spend a lot of time on training them.  When a fulltime slot comes open then the part-time officers go for 
that so the Chief does not want to get into the position of training people for other departments.  If Council 
would wish to hire someone Chief Garlock would find someone to train, but he does feel comfortable with 
the part-time officer that he has now and he has utilized him quite a bit.   
 
DH&L Fire Company, Jason Kaufman – Jason reported the month of June was a very busy month so 
he does not have the usual breakdown.  During the month of June the percentages of calls per day of the 
week were as follows:  Sundays – 3, Mondays – 1, Tuesdays – 26, Wednesdays – 7, Thursdays – 5, 
Fridays – 4, and Saturdays – 13.  The busiest piece of apparatus was the engine with 36% of the calls.  
The busiest time frame was 5:00 to 6:00 in the evening.  The fire loss for the month of June was $25,000 
for the garage on the Isle of Que.  There was also an incident at the Manor at Penn Village when an air 
conditioning unit caught fire.  There was minimal damage to the AC unit and a window in the room was 
broken out to let the smoke out.  The cost to repair everything was about $1,000.  This fire was pretty 
much extinguished with a fire extinguisher but due to the smoke the patients had to be evacuated to a 
lower floor.  There were two storm damage calls on different nights.  One night there were 55 storm calls 
from 4:00 p.m. to 1:00 a.m.  In June the fire department averaged two calls per day.  The man hours for 
the month are over 1,000 but Jason does not have the actual figure yet.  The fire company did some 
public service during June, including a SCUBA diving demo at Susquehanna University for Susquehanna 
Valley Camp Cadet, fixing flagpoles and some other small things.  Pres. Handlan asked if the 55 calls for 
storm damage were accidents or fallen trees.  Jason replied that there were some accidents but most of 
the calls were for fallen trees or live wires that came down and blocked roads.  The fire company had to 
stand by until PP&L got there to shut off the power.  An oak tree was struck by lightning and caught fire 
near Susquehanna Valley RV.  Eastern Tree Service took the tree down.  Jason reported there was a 
light response from the fire police, but there are not that many of them.  He stated the ones that do come 
around help quite a bit.  He stated the Borough crew deserves much thanks for going above and beyond 
to assist the fire company with the garage fire on the Isle of Que.  A day later the fire company got a call 
to Freeburg for an electrical fire in a house and two of the Borough trucks blocked the intersections to the 
end of town for the fire trucks.  He stated the Borough crew does not need to do that but the fire company 
appreciates it when they do and Jason wanted to express his thanks to the supervisor.  Mgr. Bickhart 
noted that whether they need to do that or not is debatable.  He stated the Borough has been trying to 
find a way to work together more efficiently.  Jason stated that years ago Gary was trained to drive the 
fire apparatus and it would be good if any of the Borough crew who were interested would go to training 
to assist the fire company during the daytime hours.  There are only a handful of people who are available 
during the day until the college students come back in late August.  Jason stated anyone in the 
community is welcome also.  There is always a job to do, even if it does not involve actual fire fighting.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated that he hated to see the garage fire on the Isle of Que declared a loss because if the 
power had been disconnected the loss would have only been about $1.95 for a couple plates.  Jason 
stated PP&L actually got there much faster that day than normal because the PP&L employees heard it 
on their scanners in their trucks and started coming even before they were dispatched.  Jason stated the 
Comm Center calls a centralized dispatch center for PP&L, which is in Reading.  They in turn call a local 
person, who then calls the people that need to be called.  Mgr. Bickhart stated it was one of the better 
responses to a fire without Susquehanna University students being around to assist.  Jason stated that 
there just happened to be a lot of guys around that day.  C/P Mengel noted that Shamokin Dam just had a 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  3 of 18 

day camp for young kids to explain fire company activities to them in order to gather interest.  Jason 
stated that one of the churches did a program similar to what DH&L did at Camp Cadet where they did a 
CPR and First Aid awareness program and a dive awareness program, and Evangelical Hospital did an 
EMS awareness program.  Most of the kids at Camp Cadet are at the age where they can start becoming 
members.  There were seven kids there from the Selinsgrove School District area.  Jason stated the 
police department helps out as they can also.  DH&L does an annual mock accident at the high school, 
fire prevention in the elementary and intermediate schools, and they would like to do something in the 
high school this year around fire prevention time for use as a recruitment tool.  Jason concluded by 
saying that he would have the regular June report for Council at their next meeting. 
 
Selinsgrove Area Recreation, Inc., Pat Reilly, Pool Update – Pat reported that the pool is having a 
great year.  Attendance is good and the snack stand is doing well.  The IRS has abated the 2002 and 
2003 returns, bringing that issue to a close.  The paperwork will be cleared up and some money might be 
coming back to the pool board.  C/P Anderson asked if the work by the YMCA is paying off and if the pool 
board has heard anything on the grant application yet.  Pat reported that working with the YMCA is going 
very well, with great cooperation and a good infrastructure at the YMCA.  DCNR will probably meet in 
September or October so they should have a response to the grant application shortly after that. 
 
Megan Will and Teens Against Tobacco – Megan has been having ongoing scheduling difficulties and 
could not attend tonight’s meeting. 
 
Ben Cairns on Sanitary Sewer near Boat Ramp – Mgr. Bickhart explained that this issue involves a 
request for Council to approve construction of a 2” PVC pressure sanitary sewer main across Borough 
property located at 700 South Front Street, which is the boat launch property.  This sewer main would be 
used as a public sanitary sewer connection for properties located within Penn Township and would 
connect them via pumps as customers of Penn Township Municipal Authority.  The installation would be 
done at no cost to the Borough and it would be constructed under the supervision and approval of the 
Borough.  It would extend as far down as Susan McDowell’s property, the big ranch way back off the 
road.  Ben Cairns is present tonight representing one of the property owners who would benefit from this 
and has offered to do the construction work on this.  The Borough took the bathrooms out of the boat 
launch project due to funding, but there is no reason they could not go back in at some future time and 
this line would be used to make that connection as well.  The line needs to be installed before the 
contractor who was awarded the bid for the boat launch project paves the area.  Some of the people that 
would benefit from this line have malfunctioning sewage systems that they want to correct.  Penn 
Township is working with Larson Design Group to come up with the rest of the design but the Borough 
only cares about the piece that goes across Borough property.  C/P Herb asked where the existing sewer 
presently ends and how far it would extend additionally on Borough territory.  Mgr. Bickhart replied that it 
ends in front of the little cottage that Chris Gemberling owns and it would extend an additional 150 feet 
through the rest of the Borough property.  C/P Herb stated that Council is only being asked to approve the 
extension of that 150 feet and whatever happens beyond that is in Penn Township and has nothing to do 
with Council’s authorization or refusal.  He asked who will bear the cost of this and Mr. Cairns stated he 
will bear the cost of this.  Pres. Handlan asked who would do the actual construction and Mgr. Bickhart 
replied that G&R Charles, the contractor for the boat launch project, would be asked to do it as part of 
that project.  C/P Mengel and Pres. Handlan asked if Penn Township has any say in this.  Solicitor Cravitz 
replied that Penn Township will have to get a permit to extend the sewer line to meet the other people’s 
needs.  A permit will not be granted until they see the engineering on this to be sure it is sized properly to 
take care of the rest of the people.  The Penn Township Municipal Authority will not accept the customers 
or approve the extension until they get the engineering on it.  Pres. Handlan asked who is doing this.  
Mr. Cairns stated that he went to the Sewer Authority because it has been over a year.  He stated he has 
lost two sales on a property.  He told the Sewer Authority that he would take care of running the line 
across.  There are 12 possible connections.  He spoke to the people who sell the pumps, and 2” line 
seems to be the material to use.  The Sewer Authority told Mr. Cairns that if Borough Council approved 
the right-of-way then the Sewer Authority would give him permission to run the line across to his property.  
He will leave a T for further expansion to the line and if the Borough wants a T put in the line for future 
bathrooms at the boat launch he will put one in there also.  Mr. Cairns has his own machines that he can 
bring in to do the work himself, but he would rather let the contractor do the work since he will be there 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  4 of 18 

anyway.  If Council gives Mr. Cairns permission to cross Borough property then he will go back to the 
Sewer Authority for their permission to proceed.  Pres. Handlan stated that all that Council is approving is 
the right of way, and Solicitor Cravitz stated that Council is also approving the connection into the 
Borough’s system.  C/P Inch asked if Mr. Cairns will need to post a bond and Mr. Cairns replied that he 
does not think he will have to do so.  C/P Mengel asked if the project has to be bid or inspected.  Solicitor 
Cravitz replied that it does not have because it is all private work.  Mr. Cairns stated he is doing the work 
himself and he was the largest non-union utility contractor in the Philadelphia area.  He listed some 
places he did work for, including pipe work for Haines and Kibblehouse, and all the work for North Penn 
Water Works.  Pres. Handlan asked how the connection into the Borough’s sewer line affects the line and 
how it would be metered.  Mgr. Bickhart replied that it adds additional customers from Penn Township’s 
system and they will not be metered.  The peripheral connections are dealt with on an EDU basis.  
C/P Mengel asked if the Borough will get income from this and Mgr. Bickhart replied they would get a $10 
connection fee.  He stated this was the agreement he brought up a couple years ago to amend because 
he did not think it was enough.  C/P Hetherington asked Mr. Cairns about the rumor that there are many 
liens against his properties and that is why he cannot sell them, not because of the sewer issue.  
Mr. Cairns stated there are papers that signed off all the liens.  He stated he was in a nasty divorce.  
C/P Hetherington stated he knows people that Mr. Cairns owes money to and he expressed the concern 
that if he cannot pay people the money he owes them, where will he get the money to pay for the sewer 
line.  He stated he is worried about Mr. Cairns’ personal financial status.  Mr. Cairns stated he has a car 
worth $120,000 and the title is in the glove compartment.  C/P Herb asked where the line will be located.  
Mr. Cairns stated that where the manhole is now, if it is 50 feet from the street, the line will be run 50 feet 
from the street straight across so everyone knows where it is in the event there is ever any problem, and 
if a problem is encountered while installing the line then the line will go around it.  Pres. Handlan stated 
that Penn Township will inspect this.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that he spoke to Pete DeWire, who is working 
on the design as an employee of Larson Design Group.  Mr. DeWire confirmed the 2” line size and that 
the location of going straight across is the most acceptable.  Pres. Handlan stated Council is not 
approving line size; they are approving the right of way and the connection to the Borough sewer system.  
Mgr. Bickhart noted that this project is not just for Mr. Cairns; it is for the property owners in Penn 
Township.  C/P Herb asked if there are any disadvantages or drawbacks to the Borough sewer system by 
adding more customers.  Solicitor Cravitz stated grinder pumps will be used to pump the sewage to the 
Borough’s manhole, which is very shallow.  Penn Township will install the grinder pumps with spare 
pumps available.  C/P Mengel asked if the Borough has any liability in this.  Solicitor Cravitz stated the 
sewer lines are not to capacity there and Mgr. Bickhart stated that having this injection at the end of the 
relatively shallow line will increase the flow characteristics and clean the line out a little bit better.  
C/P Herb stated the potential to attach bathrooms to the sewer line at the boat launch is a positive 
benefit. 
 
Motion by C/P Anderson to grant the right of way for the sewer extension and the connection to the 
Borough’s sewer.  Seconded by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5) NAYS:  TWO (2) – C/Ps Hetherington and Mengel MOTION CARRIED 
 
Robert Wendt Letter – Mgr. Bickhart reported that this agreement will be similar to the one used for 
Raymond Leech in which he agreed to retire at a certain future date and the Borough agreed to allow him 
to go on vacation and use up his accumulated vacation time.  Solicitor Cravitz prepared an agreement 
which was intended to put everything in writing and to address the issue of workers’ compensation so the 
Borough is not liable for workers’ compensation in this event.  Given the accumulated vacation hours that 
Mr. Wendt now has, the proposal says that he could take off from the Labor Day holiday on and retire 
December 31, 2007, having used up all of his accumulated vacation during that time period.  The 
proposal also documents the fact that Mr. Wendt would receive $2,275 upon his retirement as payment 
for his accumulated, unused sick days at a payment of $20.00 per day.  Mr. Wendt is requesting that 
Council approve his utilizing his accumulated vacation days as proposed.  C/P Anderson noted that this is 
the last employee that has accumulated this many vacation days.  Mgr. Bickhart stated there is a policy 
now in effect so this will not happen any more.  He stated this was not necessary with Gary because he 
chose to work half days to use up his vacation time, and even then he did not use it all up.  The Borough 
still owed him some at the end but because Gary was training Corby it was to the Borough’s advantage to 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  5 of 18 

do it this way.  Mr. Wendt stated the amount of vacation days could change by a couple days depending 
on what happens during July and August. 
 
Motion by C/P Anderson to approve the proposal.  Seconded by C/P Inch. 
 
C/P Herb asked why the $2,275 is being handled as a 1099 amount rather than standard pay.  Sheri 
explained that it is being done this way because a lump sum payroll check payment upon retirement 
would inflate the final average salary, which would inflate the pension; therefore, a separate 1099 check 
is done.  C/P Herb asked if this is an IRS regulation and Sheri replied it is a PMRS regulation.  C/P Herb 
stated that the 1099 has higher tax implications for the employee.  A person pays more tax with a 1099 
than they do with a W2 because they have to pay Social Security taxes.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that the 
employee would owe what normally would have been withheld and C/P Herb replied that it is what 
normally would have been withheld plus Social Security taxes as well.  Pres. Handlan called for a vote on 
the motion. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS FROM PRIOR MEETINGS: 
 
Review List of Council Issues 
 
The next meeting on the Property Maintenance Code/Landlord Ordinance will be July 9 at 7:00 p.m. in 
Council Chambers.  This should be the last meeting.  C/P Mengel stated they still need to look at the 
question of exemptions for the elderly housing.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the Ordinance fees from that will 
allow the revised fee schedule to be completed.  Council should have a draft of both the Ordinance and 
the fee schedule for consideration at their August meeting.  C/P Inch asked how the last meeting went, as 
he was away.  C/P Mengel stated it went very well.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the adversarial sense from prior 
meetings was gone.  He stated the landlords asked questions and got answers.  They wanted to hear 
from the inspectors and they were given that. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart stated he attended a meeting with the school district on the 19

th
 regarding the Weiser Run 

issue.  At that meeting the school district asked the university if what they were proposing to do with the 
construction of parking facilities in the practice field along Weiser Run would result in the university 
making some improvements so that the school district would not have to.  The university reported that 
they were not planning on doing anything over there.  The school district’s business manager took the 
issue back with a recommendation to approve the 50% share with the Borough.  The school board should 
be voting on this tonight. 
 
C/P Hetherington stated that the west side of the bridge over Weiser Run on Charles Avenue is grown up 
with weeds and trees.  On the east side the self-cleaning exit under the bridge has a large limb stuck 
vertically in the mud so it is not self cleaning.  He stated where it exits under the bridge it builds up to the 
north and there is a little bit where it comes out on the south side.  The design is not working as expected.  
He is concerned that in another heavy rain it will block up and cause a flood.  Mgr. Bickhart stated if there 
is a limb in the stream under the culvert, the Borough has the authority to get that out.  He stated inside 
the right of way of the street is the Borough’s responsibility.  C/P Inch stated some day Weiser Run is 
going to be a major problem that the Borough is going to have to deal with.  C/P Hetherington suggested 
looking for grants or seeing whether the Borough can get the Army Corps of Engineers or the National 
Guard to come in and clean it up.  Pres. Handlan suggested having a work day and get volunteers to help 
clean up the stream.  C/P Inch stated it would probably need heavy equipment.  C/P Hetherington stated 
it is an endless cycle.  PennDOT cleans it out and before long it is back the way it was.  Mgr. Bickhart 
stated he will have Corby take a look at this.  He stated there was a study done in 1978 wherein the 
Conservation Service and DEP had recommended improvements to the whole length of Weiser Run, and 
they had actually costed them out.  It was that study that the Borough used for the grant application that 
has been in for five years.  Every year Mgr. Bickhart resubmits the application, hoping for some state 
money.  C/P Hetherington stated back when Coukart and Gary checked out Weiser Run between Orange 
and Broad Street there was a bulge in the wall next to his property.  He asked who is responsible if that 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  6 of 18 

blows out.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that if it is in the enclosed section then it is the Borough’s responsibility.  
C/P Hetherington expressed concern that his house might collapse. 
 
Mayor Carroll asked how the list is proceeding regarding junk cars.  He stated there were some on the 
Isle of Que that he would go over with Chief Garlock when he gets back.  C/P Hetherington stated he had 
another complaint last week on one down by Mr. Foreman’s house.  C/P Mengel stated there are some at 
High and Mill Streets.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he is compiling the list.  The police department has gone 
ahead with some that have received numerous complaints.  Pres. Handlan stated there is money in those 
abandoned cars.  C/P Hetherington stated someone has advertised in the paper that he would buy 
abandoned cars. 
 
COMMITTEE / COMMISSION / BOARD REPORTS: 
 
FINANCE & BUDGET COMMITTEE:  C/P Inch, Chairman 
 
Payment and Ratification of Bills 
 
Motion by C/P Inch to pay the bills.  Seconded by C/P Anderson. 
 
C/P Inch stated there are three bills that he wants to talk about individually.  C/P Mengel asked if the 
motion is to pay everything but these three bills.  Pres. Handlan stated she thought these three bills were 
included with the ones C/P Inch is asking Council to approve.  C/P Inch stated he will ask for the motion 
after he goes over the three bills. 
 
C/P Anderson withdrew her second and C/P Inch withdrew his motion. 
 
C/P Inch reported that one of the bills is for some inlets.  There is $5,000 budgeted for storm sewers and 
Corby would like to buy some inlets at a total cost of $9,000.  C/P Reuning explained that there is some 
extra money left over that was not spent because the bids came in lower than anticipated.  Mgr. Bickhart 
stated the Street and Alley Program was budgeted for and the bids came in substantially lower.  In an 
attempt to spend closer to what was budgeted the engineer arranged to do a change order of about 10% 
on the contract, which is the maximum that can be done, to do an additional alley that was on the list of 
bid items as an alternate.  In order to spend more of the money, the work would have to be bid again 
which is not reasonable at this late date.  The inlets are a way to spend some of the budgeted money for 
something that needs to be done but that was not in the budget.  Corby got phone solicitations from three 
contractors and recommended the low quotation.  C/P Mengel asked where the inlets will be located and 
Sheri replied that they are on Linda Lane, Liberty Alley, the intersection of Pear and High, the entrance 
drive to L/B Water, two at West Snyder and Market, and along Pear Street behind the NAPA store.  C/P 
Mengel asked if these are replacements and Mgr. Bickhart confirmed that they are replacements of 
existing inlets.  C/P Mengel stated that the inlet on the corner at Broad and Mill Street is very deep and 
needs to have some work done.  Woody Mengel told her that the school buses avoid it. 
 
C/P Inch stated the second bill is for Part 3 of the Streetscape project, at $8,633.30. 
 
The final bill is for Part 4 of Streetscape, at $21,681.28.  The Committee would like authorization to pay 
this bill when they receive PennDOT clearance.  Mgr. Bickhart stated Part 4 is all of the retainage on the 
contract and this money cannot be released until the PennDOT inspection is completed.  This would be a 
conditional approval to pay this invoice subject to the final inspection of the project by PennDOT.  
C/P Anderson recommended doing this one separately, and Pres. Handlan agreed. 
 
Motion by C/P Reuning to pay all the bills with the exception of Part 4 of the Streetscape Project.  
Seconded by C/P Anderson. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  7 of 18 

Motion by C/P Inch to pay Streetscape Invoice No. 4 when it is approved by PennDOT.  Seconded by 
C/P Anderson. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Recommendation of Committee concerning Water Rate Schedule changes – C/P Inch reported that 
the Finance Committee is recommending that Council revise the water rate schedule.  Category 4, which 
is for usage of over 150,000 gallons at $1.85 per 1,000 gallons, would be deleted.  The schedule would 
be changed to read that everything over 125,000 gallons would be billed at $2.25 per 1,000 gallons.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated on the back of the schedule there is information as to the impact this will have on the 
water accounts that will be impacted by this change and the degree to which their bills would change.  
Sheri stated this change should be effective by October.  C/P Reuning stated the Finance Committee also 
recommends gradually eliminating more of the categories.  C/P Anderson stated this would take place 
over the next four or five years until all the graduated fees are entirely eliminated.  C/P Reuning stated 
this would postpone raising the water rates by at least that length of time.  C/P Anderson stated a flat rate 
would be to the advantage of the individual homeowner because the Borough would not have to raise 
their rate.  C/P Mengel stated that eventually the rates would have to go above $3.90 per 1,000 gallons.  
C/P Anderson stated that by eliminating graduated fees over a four-year period it gives the homeowners 
a long time to have fees remain as moderate as possible.  C/P Reuning stated that if this is not done, by 
2010 the Borough would have to do a dramatic increase. 
 
Motion by C/P Inch to authorize Solicitor Cravitz to draw up an ordinance authorizing Council to change 
the water rate schedule as outlined, deleting Step 4 and making it read that everything over 25,000 
gallons would be billed at $2.25 per 1,000 gallons.  Seconded by C/P Reuning. 
 
There was some confusion during the motion regarding the number of gallons on the schedule.  Sheri 
explained that the first 6,000 gallons are billed at $3.90 per 1,000 gallons.  The next 19,000 gallons are 
billed at $2.70 per 1,000 gallons.  In adding these two amounts, 6,000 plus 19,000 equals 25,000, so all 
usage over 25,000 gallons will be billed at $2.25 per 1,000 gallons.  There was more discussion and 
Pres. Handlan asked that Solicitor Cravitz read what the three lines on the water rate schedule should be.  
Solicitor Cravitz stated that for the first 6,000 gallons it would be $3.90; for the next 19,000 gallons it 
would be $2.70 and for anything over 25,000 gallons it would be $2.25.  Sheri stated the minimum meter 
size has changed, so those rates will change also.  Someone with a 3-inch water meter pays according to 
the meter size or consumption.  A 3-inch meter is allowed up to 197,000 gallons.  The current rate is 
$442.90.  These are things that will change because the lowest fee is being eliminated.  Sheri will 
automatically recalculate the meter size to fit what Council will approve tonight.  C/P Mengel asked if the 
impact this will have on people has been taken into account.  C/P Reuning stated this change will only 
affect the school district and Susquehanna.  C/P Anderson noted there are a few others listed, including 
Loving Care, Middleburg Yarn, and the Manor at Penn Village.  Sheri stated the middle school and 
elementary school do not use over 150,000 but they have a big meter.  Pres. Handlan called for a vote on 
the motion. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Statewide Tax Recovery, Inc. - Exoneration Requests – One request for G. Daniel Heiser for the years 
2005 and 2006 for being deceased.  He passed away Monday, December 18, 2006.  Sheri stated that 
even though the bills are for prior to his death, he is no longer around to pay them. 
 
Motion by C/P Hetherington for exoneration of this person.  Seconded by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

PUBLIC FACILITIES & SERVICES COMMITTEE:  C/P Reuning, Chairman – C/P Reuning stated the 
Committee will meet on the 2008 Street Program on September 10. 
 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  8 of 18 

BOROUGH ADMINISTRATION / PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:  C/P Mengel, Chairwoman – 
Mgr. Bickhart asked if a visit to J.A.W.S. and Lycoming could be scheduled within the next couple weeks.  
C/P Anderson stated the Committee decided they do not need to make visits.  C/P Mengel reported the 
Committee reviewed the proposal from Lycoming.  It increases the free pulls for the Borough to seven, 
which is the norm.  Additional pulls are reduced from $100 to $70.  The Committee also reviewed some 
surveys that Janet had done for them on various people that have used J.A.W.S. in the past.  There were 
five surveys and there was not much good to be said about J.A.W.S.  Not one person recommended 
using them again or would recommend to anyone else to use them.  Those surveyed include 
Susquehanna University, Northumberland County Recycling, Therapeutic Activity Services – Selinsgrove 
Center, and Union County Government.  C/P Mengel stated the state allowed people to get out of their 
contracts with J.A.W.S.  Pres. Handlan asked if these names could be included in the minutes and 
Solicitor Cravitz replied that if there was no implication of confidentiality in the surveys and no request for 
confidentiality by the people surveyed then they could be named in the minutes.  C/P Mengel stated it is 
not necessary to do the visits, although they could visit Lycoming if there were a need.  She stated the 
recommendation is to stay with Lycoming with the new contract.  C/P Anderson stated the Borough will 
know what is in the contract, unlike before when it was done through the county.  Pres. Handlan asked if 
Janet had copies of the surveys for Council’s files and C/P Mengel stated she thought she did.  
C/P Anderson offered her copies.  C/P Reuning noted that the new Lycoming contract will actually save 
the Borough some money.  C/P Hetherington stated that in Janet’s report she does recommend that 
J.A.W.S. be visited because of a mountain of green glass that is stockpiled.  They may have to pay to get 
rid of it, and if DEP became aware of it they could possibly require the original recycler to remove it from 
the site.  J.A.W.S. has stockpiled materials at other facilities, which defeats the purpose of recycling.  
C/P Hetherington questioned how someone would know where the material came from.  Solicitor Cravitz 
replied someone could just follow the contract.  There is a report on how much tonnage of each material 
comes from each place.  C/P Mengel stated the recordkeeping at J.A.W.S. is questionable. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to enter into the agreement with Lycoming County to do the recycling for the 
Borough.  Seconded by C/P Hetherington. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Pres. Handlan suggested that Solicitor Cravitz look over the contract for any changes the Borough might 
want to make. 
 
COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS:  C/P Herb, Chairman – No Report 
 
PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE:  C/P Anderson, Chairwoman – No Report 
 
PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE:  C/P Hetherington, Chairman – No Report 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION:  Earl Moyer, Chairman – No Report 
 
ZONING HEARING BOARD:  Glen Rohrer, Chairman – No Report 
 
CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION:  Dalton Savidge, Chairman – No Report 
 
PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD:  Richard Norman, Chairman – Mayor Carroll stated the 30-year 
anniversary of the banana split event was well attended.  September 21 is the 10-year anniversary of 
Kidsgrove.  C/P Hetherington stated he did not know about the Friday night event until that day.  
C/P Mengel stated she was not aware of the banana split event until the last minute.  People told her it 
was advertised but she did not see the ads.  Sheri stated it was in the March Borough newsletter. 
 
SHADE TREE COMMISSION:  Karl Maul, Chairman – Solicitor Cravitz reported he is working on the 
proposed rules and regulations given to him by Karl.  Mgr. Bickhart asked if this would be an ordinance 
amendment and Solicitor Cravitz replied it would not be. 
 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  9 of 18 

BOROUGH ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS: 
 
MAYOR:  Pete Carroll 
 
Mayor Carroll stated that Dick Norman continues to go above and beyond in his work, including working 
on the Banana Split anniversary, Kidsgrove, the LifeTrail and other things.  After the storms he was down 
with a crew to clean things up.  Mayor Carroll noted that some of the Borough police officers helped out 
with the Banana Split event. 
 
Mayor Carroll stated that June 21 was National Skate Day and the SKATERS organization set up some 
ramps at Wesley United Methodist Church and had hot dogs and hamburgers from 10:00 to 4:00.  He 
asked if anyone was able to attend the event.  Dawne Long stated she drove by during the day and there 
were quite a number of young people there, with adult supervision.  Mayor Carroll had asked an officer to 
go by to introduce himself and see if there were any questions on the ordinance. 
 
Mayor Carroll attended a ribbon cutting ceremony for Integrity Care, which has moved into 5 South 
Market Street, where Penn Valley Printing had been.  Integrity Care helps people in their homes. 
 
Mayor Carroll reported the new phones have been installed.  He also reported that the new cruiser is in 
use.  There are still a few things to do in order to use up the $20,000 grant. 
 
Mayor Carroll asked about the September Council meeting, stating he saw it listed in two different places, 
one as September 10 and in the newspaper as September 4.  Sheri stated that Tuesday, September 4 is 
the correct date. 
 
BOROUGH SOLICITOR:  Robert Cravitz 
 
Recommendations concerning request of Level 3 Communications to be granted permission to 
install aerial, fiber optic cable within Borough Street Right-of-Ways, on existing poles of other 
utility companies – Solicitor Cravitz reported that Level 3 Communications wants to run fiber optic 
cables down State School Road, over to Clifford Road and then down University Avenue to Orange Street 
and then out to North Market.  Level 3 asked if they needed a franchise or a license from the Borough.  
Solicitor Cravitz talked with Mgr. Bickhart and did some research and found that under Title 47 of the 
United States Code Annotated § 253 it states that no state or local statute or regulation or other state or 
local requirement may prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting the ability of any entity to provide any 
interstate or intrastate telecommunication services.  This means that the Borough cannot franchise 
because the federal statute requires competition.  However, nothing in this section affects the authority of 
a state or local government to manage the public rights of way or to require fair or reasonable 
compensation from telecommunication providers on a competitively neutral and nondiscriminatory basis 
for use of public rights of way on a nondiscriminatory basis.  This means if the Borough wanted to, they 
could charge a fee for the entity to use the Borough rights of way or easements; however, there would 
have to be one in place already that is directly linked to the Borough’s costs and expenses to provide that 
right of way.  For example, if an entity wanted to run underground lines through the streets, the Borough 
could charge them for using the streets and for ripping them up.  Level 3 will install aerial lines which do 
not affect the Borough.  The Borough does not charge anything or incur any expenses for entities to come 
through and use AT&T’s or Verizon’s telephone poles.  The Borough would have a difficult time justifying 
a fee even if they had one in place.  Pres. Handlan asked if the pole owners can assess a fee to Level 3 
Communications and Solicitor Cravitz replied that they could.  He stated an ordinance was passed in 
Haverford Township because they saw this coming.  They said they could charge whatever they felt like 
charging to allow the entity to use their right of way.  Peco Energy Company took them to federal district 
court, which ruled that the township could charge a fee but they had to quantify the expense.  The 
township could not do this, and the demands were ruled to be anti-competition and against the act and 
they were struck down.  Pres. Handlan asked what would happen if Level 3 is not granted the ability to 
use the poles.  Solicitor Cravitz replied that in that case they would have to put in new poles, which would 
be cost prohibitive to them.  C/P Herb asked if the Borough had any control over new pole installation, as 
from an aesthetic standpoint he would hate to see more poles in the Borough.  Solicitor Cravitz stated the 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  10 of 18 

Borough would be able to control the right of way and the installation of poles that would put holes in the 
streets.  He stated that Mr. Valentine was fairly confident they would begin to string lines up in July or 
August, noting that they had already cut a deal with Verizon.  C/P Herb asked if these fiber optic lines 
would be used for any type of communication, such as computers and telephones.  Solicitor Cravitz 
stated they could be for any type of video or television transmission.  He stated the Borough could put an 
ordinance in place but he does not know when it would be used.  The Borough would have to set fees 
and quantify expenses to charge people to use the Borough’s right of way.  At this point the Borough 
does not charge people for the lines that they run.  Mgr. Bickhart asked if someone needed to respond to 
Level 3 Communications and Solicitor Cravitz stated he will call Mr. Valentine back tomorrow.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated that since Level 3 asked the Borough to give their consent for them to use the 
existing poles if they acquired the consent of the other utility companies, should the Borough be given 
proof that Level 3 has the consent of the other companies.  Solicitor Cravitz stated Level 3 should provide 
the Borough with their agreements, and he has told Mr. Valentine this.  Mgr. Bickhart stated it should be 
made clear that the Borough is not giving Level 3 permission for construction of any poles, and that 
anything that is not aerial is covered by a regulation concerning permits for cutting and excavating inside 
a right of way and they will be charged for this.  C/P Herb asked if he understood correctly that Level 3 is 
not a communications company but is a subcontractor who constructs the lines that communications 
companies will use.  Solicitor Cravitz stated that was not made very clear.  Level 3 says they are a public 
utility in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania for voice and data services, so they are the utility.  C/P Herb 
stated they may then be a public utility who would lease what they build to someone else.  He asked if the 
intention is to eventually lease these lines to Verizon.  Solicitor Cravitz replied that that was the 
impression he got.  Mgr. Bickhart stated it was his impression that Level 3 is the vendor and will provide 
the services, and not just install the lines.  Pres. Handlan stated they came through a few months ago and 
were going pole by pole, reading the numbers to someone in a truck, who was recording them.  She 
asked them what it was for and they said they were putting in fiber optic lines and were mapping it out.  
C/P Anderson stated she thought someone already put in fiber optic cables in the Borough.  Mgr. Bickhart 
stated that Verizon, through Service Electric, does have fiber optic cable through the Borough.  Solicitor 
Cravitz stated that that line carries television.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the Borough office has their computers 
connected to these lines, as does the police department and the county.  He is not aware of any other 
fiber optic cables.  Mayor Carroll asked if anyone could ever run lines through the Borough’s sewer lines.  
Solicitor Cravitz stated it might be too corrosive.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he did not see why it could not be 
done with the Borough’s consent and it should not have too much of an impact on the carrying capacity of 
an 8-inch sewer line. 
 
Consider adoption of Ordinance # 753, pertaining to the vacation of Arrow Avenue and a portion 
of River Alley – Solicitor Cravitz reported this has already been passed and will go into effect shortly.  
The residents were given 60 days to respond, and he got one or two calls from people asking what will be 
done with the property. 
 
Report on the proposed adoption of Ordinance # 757, pertaining to a recently revised version of 
the updated Flood Plain Ordinance, the new Flood Insurance Rate Maps and associated Study, 
and related revisions to Chapter 140 – Zoning and Chapter 65 – Building Construction – Solicitor 
Cravitz reported that the rough copy has been sent to the Snyder County Planning Commission and to 
the Selinsgrove Planing Commission for their review.  There will be a public hearing on this ordinance at 
the August Council meeting.  After the public hearing it will be proposed for adoption at the September 
meeting.  Copies will be distributed to everyone this month in time for the hearing.  The ordinance must 
go into effect prior to November in order for the Borough to stay within the federal guidelines for 
compliance with the flood plain regulations.  Mgr. Bickhart noted that it will go into effect on November 16.  
Solicitor Cravitz stated that if this does not happen it will have an adverse effect on the Borough and on 
people’s ability to get flood insurance.  This ordinance will bring everyone into compliance with the new 
regulations and takes out the Chapter 65 – Building Construction, which has become redundant with 
regard to the Building Maintenance Code and the Uniform Construction Code for all of Pennsylvania.  All 
the rest of the flood plain regulations are in Chapter 140 so Chapter 65 is being removed altogether and 
everything is being put into one place under Chapter 140. 
 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  11 of 18 

Authorize Solicitor to prepare draft Ordinance to repeal Emergency and Municipal Services Tax 
(EMST) and to implement Local Services Tax (LST), in compliance with Act 7 of 2007 – Solicitor 
Cravitz reported that the EMST is being changed to the LST because Governor Rendell felt that EMST 
was impeding local EMS providers from getting funding through donations.  The limit was raised to 
$12,000 and some more exemptions were put into the LST.  Solicitor Cravitz will get the model ordinance 
from Pennsylvania to be put into effect in August or September.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he has asked the 
Boroughs Association for help but they do not have a model ordinance yet.  He stated this is not an easy 
change to the current ordinance, but requires a complete rewrite.  He recommends that Solicitor Cravitz 
scrap the current ordinance, which has problems due to its age and references.  It does not accurately 
refer to the current terminology in the current laws.  Pres. Handlan stated the payroll withholding will now 
take place over the entire year and this will impact how the Borough receives its money.  Solicitor Cravitz 
stated it will be withheld at $1 per week unless cause can be shown for a reason to take the amount 
quarterly, and in extreme circumstances the entire $52 can be taken at once.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that he 
believes the language will reflect that the $12,000 exemption is for the earnings within the jurisdiction 
where the tax is paid.  The current understanding is that it is for all earnings no matter where the money 
was earned.  Currently if someone earns over $5,000 they pay the tax.  Some of the language changes 
indicate that the money must be earned in Selinsgrove.  If someone earns $11,000 in Selinsgrove they do 
not pay the tax, and they could earn an additional $5,000 in Sunbury and still not have to pay the tax. 
 
BOROUGH ENGINEER:  J. A. Coukart & Associates 
 
Update on pending projects 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported that a response was sent to PennDOT on the University Avenue sanitary sewer 
project, stating that PennDOT’s proposal was not acceptable to the Borough for the reasons that were 
discussed last month. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported the 2006 Street and Alley Program has some outstanding items that need to be 
completed on the punch list.  This refers to the Mid-State contract.  In the bills that Council approved 
tonight a progress payment will be made on the project, with enough retainage to cover any decision on 
liquidated damages on the project. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported bills are being awaited on the 2006 Utility Program. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported the 2007 Street and Alley Program has not been started yet by Eastern Industries.  
They are working on the technicalities. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported that there are some issues with the 2007 Utility Program.  Bids have been 
received, but at the time the bids were submitted the low bidder, Secora Brothers from Shickshinny, did 
not have the PennDOT Prequalification of Subcontractor for major items of work.  This means that they 
were not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the contract.  Coukart has not said so in his 
letter, but the Council is in a position wherein they should not accept Secora Brothers Paving, declare that 
their bid was not in compliance with the bid documents, and consider awarding the contract to the second 
low bidder, G&R Charles.  Solicitor Cravitz stated the last time something like this happened Council cut 
the contractor a break and tried to work with him, but ran into problems.  Now Council is facing the same 
situation.  Solicitor Cravitz spoke with John Coukart about this today and Coukart felt that to be fair the 
contract should go to the next lowest bidder.  Mgr. Bickhart pointed out that between the first incident like 
this and now, the language in the construction document has been changed.  The Borough now 
specifically requires the PennDOT Prequalification at the time that the bid is submitted.  He stated Council 
must take two actions, both of which have some potential liability.  The first action is to declare the low 
bidder’s bid noncompliant, and the second action is to award the contract to the second low bidder.  
Pres. Handlan asked what the liability is and Solicitor Cravitz replied that Secora could come back and 
say Council should have taken the lowest bidder because this was not a major defect.  However, given 
the Borough’s previous experience, it is a major concern for Council, who spent at least two meetings 
discussing the necessity of having this requirement in place when dealing with contractors.  Pres. 
Handlan stated she feels confident that Council put this requirement in place and the contractor did not 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  12 of 18 

meet the requirement at the time they placed the bid.  C/P Inch stated in the other incident the second low 
bidder was also G&R Charles.  C/P Anderson stated Council has regretted taking the action they took at 
that time.  Mgr. Bickhart stated Council has corrected that defect and he does not disagree with Pres. 
Handlan, but he does not want Council to think that it is all just a matter of fact, because Secora has the 
right to disagree.  He wants to be sure that Solicitor Cravitz fully understands the situation.  Solicitor 
Cravitz stated that the contractor is not an aggrieved party to complain because he is not a resident of 
Selinsgrove Borough.  The contractor aggrieved by this action does not have standing in court to oppose 
it.  He would have to get a resident to bring suit on his behalf with regard to the action.  C/P Herb asked 
how much difference there is between the two bids and Solicitor Cravitz replied that it is $16,000.  
C/P Anderson stated Council should not violate what they just put in place.  Pres. Handlan stated she 
could guarantee that Mr. Charles would strongly object if they did.  She stated this was put in place to 
avoid this happening again. 
 
Motion by C/P Anderson to reject the bid of Secora Brothers and to award the contract to G&R Charles 
Excavating, the next lowest bidder.  Seconded by C/P Inch. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported that the Streetscape final inspection will be scheduled by the engineer so the 
invoice can be paid. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported he expects the school board to take some action tonight on the Weiser Run 
washout to get that project moving forward. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported the sewer mapping project has been completed and copies are available in the 
Borough office. 
 
Consider amendment to Borough’s Bid Specifications to require PennDOT Prequalifications as a 
Prime Contractor at the time of the submission of a bid on any future Street and Alley 
Improvement Projects – Mgr. Bickhart reported that Corby, John Coukart and himself feel that, given the 
experience with Mid-State, the bid specifications should be changed for street and alley projects, but not 
utility projects, to require PennDOT Prequalifications as a Prime Contractor, not as a subcontractor as the 
specifications say now, because street and alley projects are predominantly a PennDOT prequalified type 
of work.  This will eliminate a number of bidders and allow the Borough to avoid the kinds of problems 
that they had recently with Mid-State.  The last change was just to say that “at the time of submitting the 
bid the bidder must have PennDOT Prequalification as a Subcontractor”.  This would now say that “at the 
time of the bid the bidder must have PennDOT Prequalification as a Prime Contractor”.  C/P Anderson 
asked if there is a down side to this.  Mgr. Bickhart stated this will shift the bidding up to contractors who 
will charge more for the work because some of the contractors who would have given lower bids will be 
eliminated.  Pres. Handlan asked why Council did subcontractor before and did not go right to prime.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated that John Coukart wanted to make sure that when bids were put out that it was open 
and available to local contractors, and that the Borough would get some low prices.  However, the 
Borough has paid the price for some of those low prices in the quality of the work, the inspection and the 
delays.  This is the only way that additional requirements can be imposed.  G&R Charles does have 
prime contractor prequalification; therefore, this change would not eliminate all local contractors.  
Pres. Handlan asked how often contractors get qualified; is the qualification good for a year, two years, 
five years?  No one had the answer to this.  C/P Mengel stated she saw somewhere that it expired in 
2009.  Pres. Handlan found the reference that it expired 3/20/2009 so it is not quite two years.  C/P Herb 
asked, if prime contractors are required rather than subcontractors, thereby reducing the number of 
companies that can place a bid, would some of the competitiveness be eliminated, resulting in contractors 
coming in with higher bid amounts.  Some companies that might be acceptable to the Borough and who 
might come in with lower bids may be eliminated from the process by this change.  C/P Hetherington 
stated the Council has the right to reject any and all bids so if they come in too high they can rebid them.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated they almost never come in lower with a rebid.  He stated what C/P Herb is saying is 
true.  C/P Herb asked if it should be assumed that all subcontractors are poorer performers.  Pres. 
Handlan stated the Borough has accepted subcontractors all along and it is only recently that there has 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  13 of 18 

been a problem.  She stated other municipalities have also had the same problems.  C/P Hetherington 
stated the problems have cost the Borough money so they may be better off in the long run with slightly 
higher bids without the legal expenses and problems.  Pres. Handlan stated that even with a prime 
contractor, it does not guarantee there will be no problems.  C/P Herb stated he is concerned that Council 
may be tying their hands in an unnecessary way and is not sure if there is enough benefit to outweigh the 
potential disadvantages of eliminating subcontractors as possible bidders.  C/P Mengel asked if Council 
has the right to reject a future lowest bid by Mid-State based on their past performance in the Borough.  
Solicitor Cravitz stated there must be articulable reasons as to why Council is not going with the lowest 
bidder.  He stated it is conceivable that Mid-State could come back with arguments that they got rid of 
whatever people caused the problems in the past and there are new people and they are essentially a 
whole new company.  He reminded Council that they are only faced with challenges from Borough 
residents because Council expends their funds.  Council would have to defend themselves against the 
residents and explain why they went with a higher bidder.  Pres. Handlan asked if Council could have just 
thrown out the Secora Brothers bid completely and rebid the project, and then Secora would have been 
eligible.  Solicitor Cravitz replied that this could have been done, but the project would have been 
delayed.  Mayor Carroll stated that Mr. Charles would object to that.  Solicitor Cravitz stated it would not 
make any difference because it would be fair to everyone, and the other bidders would now know what 
Secora bid so they could adjust their bids appropriately to underbid Secora, in which case Secora could 
object.  The whole purpose of the bidding process is so the residents of the Borough get the best job for 
the least amount of money.  Getting back to C/P Mengel’s question, Solicitor Cravitz stated that if a 
contractor has performed poorly in the past then Council has the right not to accept their bid based on 
past experience.  This should happen relatively soon in time and not years and years later.  Sheri stated 
that over 50% of the funds for the street and alley program come from Liquid Fuels, which is a PennDOT 
program.  If a contractor had to be PennDOT prequalified as a prime contractor the Borough would be 
less likely to have a problem that would result in a Liquid Fuels problem.  Solicitor Cravitz stated when 
PennDOT comes in to audit Sheri’s books they may ask to see the bids and if they find that Council did 
not go with the lowest bid they will want to know why.  If Sheri cannot defend that decision, PennDOT can 
come back and cause problems.  Pres. Handlan asked if there are more subcontractors than prime 
contractors.  C/P Herb suggested having John Coukart come to Council to discuss this issue.  
C/P Anderson stated it would be interesting to know how many of the companies that bid on Borough 
projects already have approval as prime contractors.  C/P Herb stated that he somehow got the 
impression that prime contractors are probably more established with reputations that have been made 
over a longer period of time.  Mayor Carroll asked if Secora has ever bid on anything in the Borough 
before and Sheri replied no.  Pres. Handlan asked if a vote had to be taken on the change tonight and 
Mgr. Bickhart replied no, that another contract will not come in until next year.  Pres. Handlan suggested 
that John Coukart come to the next Council meeting to address this issue.  C/P Hetherington stated he 
feels Council took the right steps with Secora.  Council should not pass something if they are not going to 
follow through with it.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that in looking at the list Secora did not even have 
prequalification as a subcontractor.  G&R Charles, Dave Gutelius, and Jay Fulkroad all have prime 
contractor prequalifications.  Mid-State has subcontractor prequalifications.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he has 
never heard of M&M Asphalt Corporation from Williamsport or Wolfe Coal and Excavating from Lock 
Haven.  They picked up specs but did not bid.  Pres. Handlan stated this will be revisited at a later time. 
 
BOROUGH TREASURER:  Sharon Badman 
 
Review Treasurer’s Report for July 2007 -   Pres. Handlan asked if there were any questions on the 
Treasurer’s report.  Hearing none, she stated that it is on file for audit. 
 
Pres. Handlan commended Sheri for a job well done in Mgr. Bickhart’s absence this past week. 
 
BOROUGH MANAGER / SECRETARY / ZONING OFFICER:  Mgr. Bickhart 
 
Non-Police Complaint Update – Mgr. Bickhart stated the only new complaint is from Carol Maurer on 
the Isle of Que.  She is the neighbor to the gentleman whose tree fell on Mark Reinard’s garage.  She 
expressed concerns about the tree falling on her house and garage.  This was not a matter for the 
Borough, but was rather a private property matter.  However, the neighbor has since taken the tree down. 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  14 of 18 

 
Update of PROPERTY TRANSFERS and BUILDING PERMITS ISSUED, Janet Powers, Deputy 
Zoning and Permit Officer – No report, as Janet was on vacation 
 
Consider entering into “Work Experience Site Agreement” with Union-Snyder Community Action 
Agency, pertaining to receiving, and supervising Work Experience participants at no cost to the 
Borough – Mgr. Bickhart reported that he has been asked by Barb Fisher from the Union-Snyder 
Community Action Agency if the Borough would agree to be a work experience site for persons that she 
has money to place.  The agency pays the costs and reimburses the Borough for workers’ compensation 
expenses.  The Borough simply needs to provide a supervisor to make sure the people show up and work 
and have a meaningful work experience.  Pres. Handlan asked what kind of work these people would do 
and Mgr. Bickhart replied it would be public works, semi-skilled labor positions.  C/P Anderson asked how 
Corby would feel about this since he would be the supervisor.  Mgr. Bickhart replied that Corby has his 
hands full with people this summer.  Pres. Handlan stated she does not want the Borough to feel 
obligated, but stated she hates to turn away free help.  C/P Anderson suggested going along with it as 
long as Corby agrees.  C/P Hetherington suggested having some of the workers help Dick Norman.  
Pres. Handlan suggested having them paint the curbing so it would all get done this summer.  C/P Herb 
asked if there would be any point in contacting Corby or Dick Norman to see if they have things these 
workers would be able to do before Council would approve this.  C/P Inch stated it would be good to know 
the skill ability of the person to be placed.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the workers are usually assigned to mow, 
pull weeds and those types of jobs.  He stated Corby has already agreed to take probationary youth and, 
in some cases, adults; however, those are not the types of people in this program.  Pres. Handlan asked 
how many hours this would be and whether this is full time.  Mgr. Bickhart stated it could be full time for 
short periods of time.  C/P Anderson asked if the workers would be on the Borough’s workers’ 
compensation but the cost would be reimbursed by the agency.  Mgr. Bickhart replied that this is correct.  
Pres. Handlan asked if the paycheck would come directly from the agency and Mgr. Bickhart replied that 
it would.  He stated he checked with the Borough’s insurance company to see if they could have people 
covered by the workers’ compensation who were not paid by the Borough.  This has been done before 
and there will be a separate billing for these employees.  C/P Anderson asked who the people are and 
Mgr. Bickhart replied it is like the old Job Training Partnership Act.  It is almost identical, but this has a 
much simpler contract.  Pres. Handlan asked what the length of time is and Mgr. Bickhart stated it varies 
with the agency’s clients.  C/P Anderson stated it could be people who are unemployed or who got laid 
off.  Mgr. Bickhart stated they are all adults over the age of 18.  Pres. Handlan asked Solicitor Cravitz if 
he had any reservations about this and he replied that he did not.  He said it is pretty well controlled.  The 
Borough has the right to tell a person they do not have to stay.  Pres. Handlan asked if the Borough is 
responsible for filling out any kind of evaluations or reports.  C/P Anderson stated the Borough only has to 
keep records of their hours worked.  The Borough will actually supervise the workers.  Pres. Handlan 
stated she feels that as long as the direct supervisor agrees to this she has no problem with the program.  
Mayor Carroll and C/P Herb suggested that in the fall they could rake leaves into the gutter to be picked 
up by the leaf vacuum.  C/P Hetherington suggested having them pull weeds in the parks and along the 
business district. 
 
Motion by C/P Hetherington to enter into the Work Experience Site Agreement contingent on approval 
from the supervisor, whether Corby, Dick Norman or whomever.  Seconded by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
C/P Mengel asked how many summer employees the Borough has and who they are.  Sheri replied that 
there are nine, but they come and go, leaving for vacations and college orientations.  Corby is having a 
hard time getting the work done that he wanted done.  The employees are Jeremy Walter, who worked 
last summer, Jason Buranich, James Sanders, whose dad works at the sewage treatment plant, Ashley 
Oswald, the playground leader, Kristy Beeler and Matthew Dufford at the playground, and Amanda 
Worrell, a biology major who is working at the shed.  Mgr. Bickhart stated Michael App is at the police 
department.  Pres. Handlan asked if someone is working on the newsletter and Sheri replied that it is Britt 
Swartzlander, who’s mother is the Police Department Clerk.  Mgr. Bickhart stated she is thought of as a 
permanent employee, but she comes through the same program. 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  15 of 18 

 
Consider request of Dr. Dotterer for permission to install drop curbing and sidewalk adjacent to 
the Special Purpose Parking Space in front of the Sunbury Hospital Building, 113 North Market 
Street – Mgr. Bickhart reported that Chris Dotterer called to ask for permission to install a drop curb and 
sidewalk in front of the Sunbury Community Hospital building.  Council had previously approved a 
reserved during the hours of operation parking stall in front of the building from 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m.  
This was Ordinance # 556 in 1986.  This was modified to add the hours in 2004.  Now they are asking for 
permission to construct a ramp at one end or the other of the parking stall.  Some people have had to get 
into the building from a wheelchair on the street side and have had great difficulty getting up over the 
curb.  Pres. Handlan asked how it is possible to have a handicapped ramp and a parking spot also, and 
Mgr. Bickhart replied that the ramp would be put at the end of the parking spot.  The person would go 
behind the vehicle to access the ramp in the space between bumpers.  C/P Mengel stated she is not 
opposed to this, but the building has a rear entrance with an elevator.  C/P Anderson stated she thought 
the elevator is not at the lower level. and there are outside steps.  Pres. Handlan asked if the hospital will 
pay for the dropped curbing and Mgr. Bickhart stated he thought they would.  Pres. Handlan asked if the 
hours would stay the same and Mgr. Bickhart replied the parking would remain the same.  Pres. Handlan 
asked if anyone else would ask for the same thing, perhaps the chiropractic office.  C/P Anderson stated 
they do not have a special parking stall.  C/P Reuning stated this is a hospital building, not a private 
office. 
 
Motion by C/P Hetherington to grant Sunbury Hospital, in care of Dr. Dotterer, permission to install the 
drop curbing at their expense.  Seconded by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Borough Police Officers and Non-Uniformed employees who have contact with the public outside 
of Borough facilities to have new photo I.D. badges – Mgr. Bickhart reported that all employees who 
work with the public will have new photo I.D. badges.  Mayor Carroll asked if there was any need for the 
summer help and the Council members to have photo I.D. badges.  Mgr. Bickhart stated this is mainly for 
people who knock on doors.  Sheri stated the summer employees do not interact with the public. 
 
F&BC Grant 12/31/07 – Mgr. Bickhart reported that Council needs to accept the extension of the grant 
term for the Fish and Boat Commission’s grant which expired at the end of June.  The agreement is to 
extend it to December 31, 2007. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to approve and sign the grant extension.  Seconded by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Letter to Library Board – Mgr. Bickhart reported that he prepared a letter, which was reviewed by 
Pres. Handlan and delivered to the Snyder County Library Board, concerning their vote on two 
alternatives for the library expansion project.  Mgr. Bickhart gave Council a list of the Board members and 
the Friends of the Library members.  He stated that his letter was intended to call the Board’s attention to 
the history that the Borough has had with the library and the Borough’s level of support in order to make a 
case for them to keep the library in Selinsgrove.  C/P Herb asked if the vote meant they would move out 
of the Borough and Pres. Handlan stated the vote was to move out of the present building.  C/P Anderson 
stated that implies that they will move out of the Borough.  Pres. Handlan stated that the only available 
land in the Borough is that which is owned by the University between Sassafras and University Avenue 
that borders the alley near the Silk Mill.  C/P Herb felt it is an appalling decision for a facility that is 
available to many people who can access it without having to get in their cars to move to a location that 
will require everyone to use their cars to access it.  C/P Reuning stated the library is using Lewisburg as 
an example.  Pres. Handlan stated the Board meetings have been very painful.  C/P Anderson agreed 
that it is quite sad.  She suggested referring this to the Property Committee to begin brainstorming what 
can be done with the building when the library moves out.  Pres. Handlan stated that no one on the Board 
has begun any type of movement toward a capital campaign, discussed where they will get the money, 
how much money they will actually need, and who will support and maintain the facilities.  She stated that 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  16 of 18 

in spite of what Mgr. Bickhart wrote regarding the history of what the Borough has done to keep the 
library in the Borough, the Board’s attitude was, “What have you done for us lately?  What have you put in 
place to keep us here now?”  Pres. Handlan stated she addressed the feasibility study that was done by 
Jeff LeFevre, which did not do justice to the present building.  She spoke to Jeff the month before last, 
before the first presentation, and asked him if he came to Borough Council to give them an overview or if 
he talked to anybody in the Borough or on Council regarding the building.  Pres. Handlan stated what she 
saw in the study was what exists today, with no thought for the expansion of the building.  She stated 
someone commented that Mgr. Bickhart told them they might as well move out of the building.  However, 
Pres. Handlan stated she would have said the same thing when presented with the Board’s pie in the sky 
dream of a large library because it is just not possible in the present building.  The Board takes things out 
of context and feels the Borough has been of no help to them at all in trying to keep them here.  Council 
stated they will remember that at budget time for next year.  Pres. Handlan stated the library had a 
feasibility study done 15 years ago and they are now on their second feasibility study.  They have gone to 
a realtor to look for available land in Snyder County.  They would rename the library the Selinsgrove Area 
Community Library because it serves more than just the Selinsgrove Borough.  It serves Penn Township, 
Monroe Township and a few other smaller townships.  Pres. Handlan stated that currently they cannot 
even keep the Borough library and the three other libraries open the number of hours they want to stay 
open.  C/P Anderson asked if anyone on the Board understands operations and budgets, and whether 
anyone asks any pragmatic questions.  She stated even if the fairy godperson came along and gave them 
property and built the building, they will have to be able to afford to operate a 19,000 square foot building.  
Pres. Handlan stated she believes they are in a deluded state, with the attitude of “build it and the money 
will come”.  They continue to say, “Look at Lewisburg.”  C/P Anderson asked if they understand that 
Lewisburg gets .5 mill from the county for every taxpayer in Union County.  That is a wonderful income 
stream which Snyder County does not have because the voters turned it down, and there is nothing 
happening to say that the voters would pass it now even if it got on the ballot.  Pres. Handlan agreed, and 
stated the new commissioners who are running are looking to cut back.  She stated that Jeff LeFevre did 
an excellent job of convincing the Board that there is no way they can change the present building to do 
what they want to do.  He stated it would cost $4 million to renovate the present building.  C/P Anderson 
stated she feels this was deliberately inflated.  Pres. Handlan stated she is on the record, and she is sure 
it is in the minutes, as stating that she loves Jeff like a brother but he did a disservice to the community.  
C/P Herb stated that is the issue – the impact on the community and the people in the community, 
particularly the kids.  Pres. Handlan stated that Pat Wendt is the only other Borough resident on the 
Board, and she voted with the proposed change.  Pres. Handlan stated it will be years before the library 
moves out.  Another argument that they make is that they cannot renovate the building and keep the 
library open at the same time.  C/P Anderson stated they are working on a press release and Pres. 
Handlan stated she will have some input into that.  C/P Anderson suggested referring this to the Facilities 
Committee in order to get it on the agenda to look at what it would take to turn the present building into a 
community service building.  She suggested that the committee talk to people at the YMCA to see if they 
could use some of the building in order to avoid building a new building themselves.  The rooms in the 
Borough building could be used for a number of the lesson kinds of things that the YMCA likes to do.  She 
stated the Borough should be proactive in looking at other ways to use the building and renovate it to 
include an elevator.  C/P Mengel asked if the Borough offices would stay in the building in this scenario 
and C/P Anderson stated they would.  She is just talking about the rest of the building that the Borough 
offices would not be using.  She stated if the library moves too far out of the Borough there would still 
need to a Selinsgrove library.  Pres. Handlan stated it would have to be independently run.  C/P Anderson 
stated she hopes there is an outcry when the press release comes out.  She stated Mgr. Bickhart’s letter 
was well written.  C/P Reuning asked if a news release would be coming out and Pres. Handlan stated 
there was one drafted over the weekend, but it was not acceptable to go out.  C/P Anderson asked if the 
Friends of the Library know about the Board’s decision and Pres. Handlan said she is sure they do.  One 
of the Board members is on the Friends.  Pres. Handlan stated that her comment to them was that she 
hoped their wants were not put ahead of their needs.  C/P Anderson asked if Pres. Handlan, as a 
member of the Library Board, sees the budget.  Pres. Handlan replied that it is reviewed every week.  
She stated they struggle with just getting part-time people and staying open the hours that they do.  She 
stated Joe Kleinbauer was at the meeting last Tuesday and he stood up and spoke directly to the issue of 
where the money will come from.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that what the Borough has done that the library 
does not appreciate is that they have made the basement available for their short-term expansion and 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  17 of 18 

utilization.  He stated that the library has basically committed itself to ten years of doing nothing, after 
which they will have another feasibility study done because there is no way they can get past the hurdles 
to have the library built.  He feels that the Board is trying to move “our library” because Borough Council 
has made sure that the library is in the Borough and it is what it is, not because the library wanted it or 
funded anything or gave the Borough any designs or specifications, but because a number of 
Councilpersons over the years decided that the Borough needed a library and went about making sure 
there was a space for it.  That is how the library came about.  He stated the Borough needs to be 
prepared to help the library with the only alternative, which is to make the best of the current building.  
Pres. Handlan asked that the Borough continue to work the with library employees, who have nothing to 
do with the decisions that are made by the Board. 
 
Pres. Handlan reported that Pamela Ross, the new Executive Director of the Snyder County Library 
System, started at the beginning of June.  Ms. Ross has accomplished more in the past month than the 
former director had in the almost two years that she held the position.  She has some great ideas and lots 
of networking and experience.  She will be very good in the position.  The Daily Item has contacted her to 
do an article on her hire as the new director.  C/P Anderson asked if the library was moving ahead to do 
anything with the space that the Borough gave them downstairs.  Pres. Handlan reported that they have 
done what they needed to do and have been in touch with Verizon regarding the phone system down 
there.  They know what they will be painting.  There are some things that are being stored that need to be 
moved out and those things should be out by the end of the month.  C/P Mengel asked where the new 
director stands regarding the building situation.  Pres. Handlan stated that she has come in long after the 
fact and she really cannot comment on the situation.  She takes her direction from the Board.  
C/P Mengel stated she must have an opinion, and C/P Anderson stated that as the new person on the 
block she really cannot express her opinions at this point without putting her job at risk. 
 
SELINSGROVE MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY – Donald Bottiger, Chairman – No Report 
 
EASTERN SNYDER COUNTY REGIONAL AUTHORITY – Bob Dagle and George Kinney, Chairmen 
– No Report 
 
NORTH-EASTERN SNYDER COUNTY JOINT AUTHORITY – C/P Hetherington and Mgr. Bickhart – 
No Report 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 
Multi-Municipal Parks and Recreation Meeting at Airport – C/P Anderson stated she attended this 
very interesting event.  She is anxious to see if this goes anywhere, as there are new trails being blazed, 
literally and figuratively, in terms of getting municipalities to work together in considering their operations.  
Pres. Handlan stated that Mgr. Bickhart has done an extensive amount of work with this group.  
C/P Anderson stated Dick Norman is also involved.  Mgr. Bickhart stated some of the recommendations 
play into finding a way to get the YMCA over here to manage programs without even having to build a 
building. 
 
MAYOR – Mayor Carroll noted that the smoking policy went into effect July 1.  He spoke with Megan Will, 
who was down with her boss on Friday.  He stated that if there is anybody else who has issues and would 
like the patches they are still offering that program and he will come down to meet with them one on one. 
 
 
OTHERS 
 
Susquehanna University/DEP Meeting – Mgr. Bickhart reported that the university feels the need to 
have one more meeting with the two primary investigators from DEP and their own environmental 
consultant.  A meeting has been scheduled on Monday, July 16 at 1:00.  Anyone on Council who is 
interested may go to the meeting.  Sara Kirkland indicated in an email that she is not sure what questions 



Meeting Date:  July 2, 2007  18 of 18 

will be asked.  DEP published the questions they got, along with the responses.  This is the last thing they 
did, and the university feels the need to follow up on those questions and responses, and then hopefully 
that will be the end of this issue.  Anyone who is interested in attending can let Mgr. Bickhart know and he 
will let them know where the meeting will be, as the place has not yet been set other than that it will be in 
the university somewhere.  C/P Hetherington stated there was an article in the Harrisburg Patriot News 
before June 18 that the former owners of the Rhodes property will remove more dirt from the site.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated that as a result of the additional investigation that DEP did they found the two 
herbicides on the site in some concentration.  They went back and asked Ed Rhodes, on behalf of the 
Rhodes family, and Scott Shaffer to work together to investigate this, and to go back and do more of the 
investigation and remediation work that they did initially.  The initial look was just for petroleum 
byproducts because that was the only thing that was raised as a potential contaminant.  Now herbicides 
have been added, and Ed Rhodes immediately agreed that he would bear the expense of additional 
investigation to sample the soil to find out what concentrations of herbicides are there and what the aerial 
extent of it is, and then that consultant would submit a report to DEP to either remove soil or possibly not 
remove soil.  DEP’s primary investigator, Mike Welsh, thought from what he saw that there would be no 
requirement to remove soil.  The concentrations in the soil were not hazardous and they would be best 
left alone to degrade naturally on the site rather than digging up soil and hauling it away.  The consultant 
has started this work and there will be a report generated and a decision made.  C/P Anderson asked if 
there is any idea of when the Health Department’s research will be done.  Pres. Handlan stated it will be 
months yet.  Mgr. Bickhart stated every time the question is asked the answer has been “a couple of 
months”.  He stated it turned out to be more difficult than they thought.  They wanted to capture 85% of 
the population and to do that they had to go to the databases in ten states, which was more problematic 
than they thought.  They did Pennsylvania very quickly because they know the database and how to use 
it, but it did not get even half of the student population of 16,000 students. 
 
Donald Foreman – Pres. Handlan reported that she has had several conversations in the last few weeks 
with Mr. Foreman.  He had initially called her home relative to weeds on his property.  He told her he had 
called the police and that they came and what was said.  She went to Mr. Foreman’s house to look at the 
situation, and as a result of this conversation she contacted Solicitor Cravitz, who has been in contact 
with Mr. Foreman and Mr. Andretta’s attorney.  Solicitor Cravitz stated that he talked with Bob Steinberg, 
who called him after he sent him a letter to deal directly with Mr. Andretta.  He will go in and review the 
site, remove what needs to be removed and take the weeds down.  He will then get into it with 
Mr. Foreman over the placement of their boundaries.  This will take a while.  Pres. Handlan stated that 
they were supposed to remove the foundation and that has not been done yet.  As a result there has 
been weed growth, which escalated to other things.  She stated her conversation with Mr. Foreman 
included him wanting the Borough to reimburse his legal fees and him asking why nothing was being 
done.  She stated it was all history repeating itself.  She stated she told Mr. Foreman that she needed to 
step back and let the solicitor handle this.  Solicitor Cravitz stated he was told the work would be done 
immediately, so he will give him a few more days.  Supposedly the weeds came down already.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated the weeds were sprayed with something.  He stated he drove by and it was all ugly 
and brown.  Pres. Handlan cautioned Mgr. Bickhart to just keep on driving when he drives by. 
 
Mr. Burgess – Pres. Handlan stated her other weekly caller, Mr. Burgess, is happy that the curbs on 
Orange Street have been painted.  He understood why there is a Main Street Manager in town and 
wanted to discuss this.  He is still concerned that some of the handicapped curbing is a little too high in 
spots.  She passed this along to Mgr. Bickhart.  C/P Reuning asked if Mr. Burgess is in a wheelchair and 
Pres. Handlan replied that he is on a scooter.  C/P Reuning asked if he is the one that comes down the 
middle of the road.  Pres. Handlan stated she has never seen him in the middle of the road, but she has 
seen the person C/P Reuning is talking about, with a flag on the back.  C/P Anderson stated that is a 
woman.  C/P Reuning stated there is a man who comes right down the middle of 10

th
 Street.  

Pres. Handlan asked if he had an oxygen tank on and C/P Reuning replied no.  Pres. Handlan stated that 
Mr. Burgess has an oxygen tank. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Meeting adjourned at 9:50 p.m.  Attachments: None 


